
Urgent Legal Matter – Politically Motivated Indictment & DOJ Misconduct 

My name is John Baltadjiev (formerly Engler) and I am reaching out to bring to your 
attention a grave injustice regarding what I firmly believe to be a politically motivated 
and fraudulent indictment orchestrated by Joe Biden’s Department of Corruption (DOJ) 
against myself, Alec Dierna and others. We are wrongfully being threatened with 400 or 
more months in Federal Prison if we “do not take a plea deal” for alleged “crimes” that 
took the DOJ over 3 years to manufacture. 

I am a United States Marine Corps Veteran with an honorable discharge. I have been 
married for over 11 years and am a devoted father to my two beautiful children, ages 6 
and 8. My family and I have lived our lives with integrity, and this unjust prosecution has 
caused immeasurable harm to our well-being. 

The timing, selective prosecution, and deliberate misrepresentation of facts by the 
DOJ out of the Western District of New York raise serious concerns about misconduct, 
abuse of power, and civil rights violations within the Department of Justice. This 
Witch Hunt and grave injustice has been going on since March of 2021. 

Background of the Fraudulent Indictment by the DOJ 

●​ I, along with others, were indicted in the Western District of New York (Case No. 
6:24-cr-06045-EAW-MWP) on allegations that are factually incorrect and 
deliberately misrepresented by the DOJ and AUSA to secure an indictment in mid 
2024, with a superseding indictment following. 

●​ The DOJ intentionally miscategorized routine business documents: order 
forms and quotes labeled with disclaimers as "invoices" to falsely portray 
standard business solicitations as fraudulent activity - for many companies 
that I did not own or operate. 

●​ Despite disclaimers stating, "This is a solicitation for the order of goods,..." the 
DOJ intentionally misrepresented these documents before many grand juries over 
the years to manufacture as a story of crime to finally secure indictments. 

●​ The DOJ’s own admission within the indictment, attaches an order form with a 
disclosure, yet they still attempt to classify it as an invoice to mislead the court. 

●​ Over 8,400 tracking numbers proving the delivery of products have been 
provided to the DOJ, further disproving any fraud claim and/or criminal intent. 

●​ This indictment was secured through knowingly false and misleading 
information by the DOJ, creating many false narratives over many years to 
justify prosecution. 

DOJ’s Political Retaliation & Targeting 

●​ This indictment was brought after my wife, business associates, and I visited 
President Trump in April 2023 at Mar-a-Lago. 

 



 
●​ The DOJ started another investigation that had already concluded in 2022 with no 

findings of wrongdoing. The DOJ issued subpoenas to myself and others, unjustly 
demanding every business record imaginable, including: 

●​ Email addresses, phone numbers, and personal contact details 
●​ Bank account records and financial statements 
●​ Tax returns for every business we have ever been associated with 
●​ Internal communications and transaction history 

These overbroad and intrusive subpoenas were issued without legitimate justification, 
serving only to manufacture crimes, harass, intimidate, and financially cripple those 
targeted. 

The DOJ’s fishing expedition into every aspect of our personal and professional lives further 
demonstrates their intent to manufacture crimes and politically persecute rather than 
prosecute. 

●​ The DOJ subsequently issued over 6,000 biased subpoenas and created a 
"FalseInvoice@FBI.gov" email for businesses to reply to the subpoenas, specifically 
targeting businesses connected to me and others. This further proves intent to frame legal 
business operations as fraudulent. 

●​ Selective prosecution is evident, as some companies and individuals who engaged in the 
same business practices but did not meet President Trump were omitted from the 
indictment. 

●​ After rejecting a highly unreasonable and unofficial plea deal of "120 months," the DOJ 
retaliated against me by inflating the charges to claim an "intended loss" of $160 
million—escalating sentencing guidelines to 27-33 years in prison based on fabricated 
figures by the DOJ. 

Prosecutorial Misconduct 

●​ AUSA Richard A. Resnick knowingly misrepresented order forms as invoices to 
mislead the grand jury and secure an indictment based on false premises. 

●​ The DOJ framed routine business transactions as fraudulent, despite local law 
enforcement’s own prior assessment that no criminal activity had occurred. 

●​ In November 2021, the government seized bank accounts, vehicles, and other assets 
without any formal charges. 

●​ A coerced property forfeiture followed, only for the assets to be returned a year later 
after no wrongdoing was found—further proving the DOJ’s misuse of power. 

●​ This pattern of misconduct is not prosecution but persecution, designed to destroy 
reputations and financial stability rather than seek justice. 

More Civil Rights Violations (December 17-18, 2024) 

●​ On December 17, 2024, based on sealed and fraudulent DOJ filings by Attorney Trini E. 
Ross (appointed by Joe Biden), AUSA Richard A. Resnick and in coercion within the 
DOJ, U.S. Marshals arrested me without cause. 



 
●​ The DOJ’s false and manufactured allegations to justify revoking my bail: advising I 

have two passports, despite no bail violations. 
●​ I was detained at Palm Beach County Jail under false pretenses. 
●​ On December 18, 2024, I was transported to court in shackles, where it was proven in 

open court that the allegations against myself by the DOJ were false and 
manufactured by ASUA Richard Resnik to instill fear and pressure me into taking a 
plea deal. 

●​ With the intervention of another U.S. Attorney in West Palm Beach and my legal team, it 
was revealed that DOJ prosecutors had knowingly submitted fraudulent filings to 
illegally revoke my bail: A very common theme for Attorney Trini E. Ross, AUSA 
Richard A. Resnick and others within the DOJ in Rochester, NY.  

●​ Once DOJ’s fraud was exposed, the DOJ was forced to dismiss the allegations of bond 
revocation and reinstate my pre-trial release. 

Seeking Motion for Injunctive Relief, Legal & Public Accountability 

I am seeking a Motion for Injunctive Relief to: 

●​ Prevent further malicious prosecution and legal harassment by the DOJ. 
●​ Halt any further unjust subpoenas, asset seizures, or retaliatory actions against myself 

and others similarly targeted. 
●​ Protect my constitutional rights and prevent further violations arising from this politically 

motivated case. 

Additionally, I am currently pursuing a public records request to obtain: 

●​ The origins of the allegations and any communications that led to my indictment. 
●​ DOJ and U.S. Marshals Service records on my unjust arrest and detention. 
●​ Grand jury transcripts to determine how false information was presented. 
●​ Internal DOJ communications regarding my case, particularly after my 2023 meeting with 

President Trump. 

Given the clear pattern of political targeting, prosecutorial misconduct, and civil rights 
violations, I am seeking legal guidance and advocacy from those who understand the dangers of 
politically motivated prosecutions. 

I would greatly appreciate any advice or recommendations on how to best challenge this unjust 
indictment and expose the misconduct behind it. Please let me know if you would be open to 
discussing this further or if you can refer me to organizations specializing in government 
accountability and wrongful prosecution cases. 

In God We Trust, ​
John Baltadjiev (formerly Engler)   
Phone: (561) 232-4444  
Email: John@DreamForever.com                    Withchunt.com               DreamForever.com      

mailto:John@DreamForever.com
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STANDARD PRACTICE BY THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK DOJ TO KNOWINGLY FALSIFY DOCUMENTS
TO THE COURT. I WAS SWATTED BY THE UNITED STATES MARSHALS, PUTTING MY FAMILY AND I IN A
POTENTIALLY VERY DANGEROUS SITUATION. WHEN IS ENOUGH, ENOUGH?  WHEN WILL TRINI E. ROSS,
RICHARD A. RESNICK, AND THE REST OF THE DOJ IN THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK BE HELD
ACCOUNTABLE?

SWATTED BY THE UNITED STATES MARSHALS
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TIMELINE 

●​ November 16, 2021: FBI arrives at homes and businesses, seizes four cars, Alec's investment account with 
over $330,000, and takes about 40 computers, about 100k plus in equipment from many offices, and all 
documents from all offices. 

●​ December 16, 2022: A criminal complaint is filed against Bryan Lantry and a couple of others. 
●​ February 2022: A criminal complaint is dropped against Bryan Lantry and a couple of others. 
●​ January 2023: Alec gets his two cars and the seized bank account back after being strong-armed by the 

DOJ and forced to turn over an investment property, which was owned by Alec and myself, to the Federal 
Government. 

●​ June 2023: FBI and DOJ launch a website to seek "possible victims of a crime," listing many companies 
Alec and I have been associated with. This effort gains zero traction as no crime or “victims” existed. 

●​ March 2023: Two cars are released back to me after my attorney spoke to the prosecutor and advised no 
wrongdoing was found and the Fed’s can not hold my cars. 

●​ April 2023: We meet President Trump. 
●​ September 2023: The feds keep sending off fishing subpoenas to thousands of businesses and people 

after showing up at our homes and businesses with more subpoenas requesting all bank account info, 
business records, emails, phone numbers, addresses, contacts, associates, and customer information from 
every business we have ever been associated with. This includes car dealerships, jewelry stores, landlords, 
previous mortgage companies, finance companies, accountants, and more. The feds subpoena them for 
ANY AND ALL records and involvement related to us. 

●​ October/November 2023: The DOJ issues subpoenas to over 6,000 businesses, asking them to complete 
a form “in connection with a criminal investigation of suspected felonies” and claiming they have "been a 
victim of a crime." Businesses are instructed to submit their answers via email at “FakeInvoice@FBI.gov,” 
claiming they’ve been victims of scammers sending fake invoices. 

●​ September 2023: Bryan is indicted (strategically by the DOJ) based on the DOJ's manufactured charges. 
●​ April 2024: FBI presents to a grand jury that a group was sending out invoices for products never ordered or 

delivered. The DOJ never acknowledges in the grand jury that these were order forms, quotes, and 
solicitations. The DOJ claims they are invoices and documents disguised as invoices to create mass fraud 
(JUST LOOK AT THE QUOTES AND FORMS ON THE INDICTMENT!). 

●​ Charges: The government charges Alec and I (and “co-conspirators”) with $8,100,000 in losses. Because 
we have not accepted a plea deal, the government has informed us that we are being charged with 
$160,000,000 in "intended" losses. If we take this to trial, the government says we are facing 27-33 years in 
prison (400 more more MONTHS) if found guilty of any of the 51 counts in the indictment. 

●​ Ongoing Legal Struggles: Alec and I are backed into a corner, seeing this as a gross misuse of the DOJ 
system. It took the DOJ over three years to manufacture a crime, moving in very direct and conducting a 
HUGE witch hunt. Initially, according to the DOJ, the order forms were fine, but the product wasn’t being 
filled. Once they found out the product was filled, they said, "This must be a COVID product scam." When it 
was found not to be that, they kept going, pulling at straws. "The products must be a scam and not good... 
Oh, people got the product, liked it, and ordered more???... We’re just going to ignore BRADY EVIDENCE 
(evidence considered favorable to a defendant in an investigation) and file an indictment." To add insult to 
injury, one prosecutor even told my attorney, “We don’t think they committed a crime, but I think we can get 
enough and go in front of a jury and get a conviction!" 

●​ November 2024: President Trump won the election, and my wife and I were there, front row at the 
convention center. 

●​ December 2024: The DOJ submits fraudulent and manufactured paperwork with another riddled story to the 
course revoking my pre-trial probation, sending the US Marshals after me, incarcerating me, and violating 
my civil rights. 

●​ Now Alec and I are being told by prosecutors and my attorneys we FACE MORE THAN 400 MONTHS in 
prison if I don’t take a plea deal if we  get convicted of ANY of the 51 counts at trial.  

 



ONE OF OVER 6,000 subpoenas sent out by the DOJ 2.5 years AFTER
 the fact shows that when the DOJ couldn't find any real crime in 2021,
 they went on a witch hunt and fishing expo by framing regular business
      like a criminal enterprise by trying to manufacture crimes.













When the DOJ faced pushback on any over 6,000 subpoenas, their typical response was to
reinforce the narrative of wrongdoing, subtly framing witnesses to imply guilt, even though the
subpoenas themselves were already biased.
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Even the Boca Raton Police Department investigated one of the companies in the indictment and
                                           found NO WRONGDOING in 2021.
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OCA
2021-011173Boca Raton Police Department

Date / Time Reported

Fri 09/24/2021 13:29
OffenseVictim

SUSPICIOUS INCIDENT

REPORTING OFFICER NARRATIVE

On 09/24/2021 I was given a suspicious incident to follow up on by Sergeant Wollschlager per Lieutenant Kwitkin. 
Upon arrival at 150 E Palmetto Park Road, suite 800, in the city of Boca Raton, the county of Palm Beach, I spoke
with Bryan Lantry, owner of the company, Safety Supply.

Lantry stated he mailed out a dozen solicitation mailers all over the United States. Lantry stated it is clearly marked
on the solicitation that this is not a bill, invoice and no one is obligated to order the items listed on the solicitation
mailer. 

I then spoke with Gina Lingerfelt, who mailed the Boca Raton Police Department the said mailer, and advised her
that I read the mailer and spoke with the owner about the mailer. I explained to Lingerfelt the mailer is for
solicitation purposes only and not a invoice to her company. She stated she was thankful for the information. 

Nothing further.

MCHUGH, L. D.Reporting Officer: Page 3 
R_CS3NC



Alec Dierna                                       ​
(585) 738-8164                   
02/26/2025 
 
To Whom It May Concern,  
 
We are writing to expose a grave injustice: One that represents one of the most blatant cases of 
government overreach and prosecutorial misconduct in recent history. Our experience with the 
Department of Justice (DOJ) is not just an attack on us personally, but a dangerous precedent for every 
business owner and law-abiding citizen in America. 
 
For three-in-a-half years, we have endured relentless legal harassment by the DOJ in the Western District 
of New York under the former U.S. Attorney Trini E. Ross. Throughout this time, our case has been 
shuffled between multiple prosecutors and judges, with the lead prosecutor, AUSA Richard Resnick, 
conveniently retiring right after President Trump’s return to office. The sudden leadership changes and 
selective prosecution raise serious concerns about political motivation and legal mismanagement and 
retaliation against law-abiding citizens and business owners. 
 
In this letter, I will present a small but compelling portion of the Government's Fabricated case against us, 
along with evidence exposing the corruption within the Justice Department in the Western District of New 
York, and highlighting numerous contradictions in their claims. 
 
Who We Are: Devoted Husbands, Fathers, and Entrepreneurs 
 
We are Alec Dierna and John Engler—devoted husbands, fathers, and hardworking entrepreneurs who 
believe in financial independence and the freedom to create a better life. Our mission has always 
been to help people break free from the system, start their own businesses, and achieve success 
on their own terms. 
 
We built our company with integrity and a vision: that anyone, regardless of background, should have 
the chance to succeed. We are not criminals. We are family men who care deeply about those around 
us. We have helped friends, supported employees, and provided many great  opportunities for people to 
thrive. Despite our good intentions, we have been targeted and falsely accused of crimes by the DOJ. 
The government wants to paint us as criminals, but the truth is, we are fighters. We refuse to back 
down—not just for ourselves, but for every entrepreneur who has been wrongfully targeted by a system 
that punishes success. This fight is about more than us. It’s about defending the American Dream and 
standing up for the right to work hard, build something great, and provide for our families without fear of 
government overreach or retaliation. 
 
The Government’s Fabricated Case Against Us 
 
In 2020, we founded a business that operated using legally compliant mail solicitations, a practice widely 
used by businesses across the country. Our solicitations were clearly labeled as "Order Forms" and / or 
"Quotes" with explicit disclaimers stating, "This is a solicitation for the order of goods and not an invoice or 
a bill. There is no money due." Despite this, the DOJ intentionally misrepresented our forms as 
"fraudulent invoices" to a grand jury, manufacturing a fraud case out of thin air. 
 
Not once—neither in recorded conversations, text messages, nor emails—did we refer to our forms as 
invoices. In fact, it has been discovered that in a secretly recorded conversation, we explicitly stated they 
were marketing solicitations. The government has deliberately and consistently twisted facts to create 
their own narrative and illusion of fraud. 
 
Government Overreach: Seizing Assets Without Cause 
 



In November of 2021, 30+ FBI agents traveled from Western New York to raid all of our offices, they 
seized over $100,000 worth of computers, printers, and other equipment, along with all of our 
vehicles and some bank accounts. They took everything they could, despite having no legitimate legal 
basis to do so. This was a clear case of asset forfeiture overreach, where prosecutors aggressively 
take property before proving any wrongdoing. 
 
After realizing there was no actual crime, the government was forced to return nearly everything they 
had seized including our cars, money, and other assets. However, as part of a civil agreement, we 
allowed them to keep a single family home in Jacksonville, FL we purchased as an investment. 
This outcome further proves that they acted prematurely and without justification, only to later walk 
back their actions when they could not substantiate their claims. 
 
This is yet another example of how the government overstepped its authority, using aggressive 
forfeiture tactics before any legal wrongdoing had been established—further demonstrating their pattern 
of misconduct and reckless prosecution (United States v. James Daniel Good Real Property, 510 U.S. 
43 (1993)). 
 
Adding to the contradictions in this DOJ’s fabricated case against us, Dylan Costanza (co-difentent) 
falsely claimed to the DOJ that John and I owned all of the businesses involved in their investigation. 
Contrary to Dylan Costanza’s statements, he was able to forfeit over $100,000 worth of office equipment. 
The fact that he could legally surrender this property contradicts his statement and further proves that the 
government manipulated testimony to fit their narrative.  
 
Our Motive and Intent: A Business Built on Entrepreneurship, Not Fraud 
 
From the very beginning, our goal was to provide people with an entrepreneurial opportunity: A chance 
to build their own businesses, achieve financial independence, and create a sustainable living for 
themselves and their families. We never set out to deceive or defraud anyone. Instead, we structured our 
business in a way that we genuinely believed to be legal, transparent, and compliant with all necessary 
regulations, rules, and laws. We did not own these businesses but we did have a hand in consulting.  
While some may find our business model unconventional or difficult to understand, that does not 
make it fraudulent. Always being upfront about the nature of offers, and making it explicitly clear to 
recipients that mailers were solicitations, not invoices, was done 100 percent of the time . This belief 
was reinforced by the fact that we included clear disclaimers on every form, stating that there was no 
obligation to pay and that the correspondence they received was purely a marketing offer, not an invoice. 
 
To further confirm the legality of our operations, a law enforcement officer in 2021 conducted a full 
investigation into one of the marketing businesses in question and officially closed the 
investigation with no further action once it was deemed there was no wrongdoing. The police 
officer explicitly advised that the business practices were lawful, and we have documented proof of this 
police report. If a trained law enforcement professional determined that this business in question was 
operating within the law, how can the government now claim that we or anyone involved intended to 
commit fraud? At no point did we believe we were or anyone we were associated with was engaging in 
illegal activity. Our reliance on the disclaimers and the official police investigation only strengthens the 
fact that we lacked any intent to deceive or commit fraud. The government’s attempt to portray us as 
criminals ignores the reality of our good-faith belief in the legality of our business. If anything, this case 
is a direct attack on the entrepreneurial spirit, punishing individuals who take financial risks to create 
legitimate businesses and opportunities for others. 
 
The Government’s Unjust Attempt to Seize Family Homes 
 
As part of their baseless prosecution, the government is trying to seize both my parents' home and John 
Engler’s home, despite having no legal basis. Without my parents' knowledge, I spent $45,000 of my own 
money to remodel their home as a surprise, paying contractors directly. My father has owned this home 
for over a decade, and he has no involvement in my business. Yet, the government included it in the 



indictment, claiming they can take my family’s home simply because I made improvements. My parents, 
and my baby sister all live there—they are a hardworking family just trying to get by, and now are being 
threatened with losing their home for no reason. 
 
The government is also trying to seize John Engler’s fully paid-off home, where his wife and children live. 
They have lived in this home for years and it was his first home purchase where he has created incredible 
memories with his family. This isn’t about justice; it’s about intimidation and destruction. 
 
In Honeycutt v. United States, 581 U.S. 443 (2017), the Supreme Court ruled that property cannot be 
seized unless directly tied to criminal proceeds. In United States v. Bajakajian, 524 U.S. 321 (1998), the 
Court found excessive forfeitures unconstitutional. These homes were lawfully owned and maintained, yet 
the DOJ is abusing forfeiture laws to punish families. This isn’t law enforcement—it’s legalized theft. 
 
The Government’s Changing Narrative & Investigation Tactics 
 
Initially, the DOJ alleged that businesses in question were merely cashing checks and not shipping 
products. However, this claim was blatantly false, as some of the businesses in question operated out of a 
fully stocked 4,000-square-foot warehouse dedicated to shipping out customer orders. When government 
agents raided our homes and offices, they deliberately avoided the warehouse—choosing not to step foot 
in the very facility that would have immediately disproven their allegations. 
 
Once we provided over 8,000 tracking numbers to the DOJ, proving that every order had been fulfilled by 
these companies, the government abandoned their original claim and shifted their focus, now alleging that 
companies had "overcharged" customers. This constant moving of goalposts shows that the DOJ was not 
investigating an actual crime but fabricating charges as they went along. 
 
This pattern of shifting accusations and refusal to acknowledge exculpatory evidence is reminiscent of the 
Supreme Court's ruling in United States v. Alvarez, 567 U.S. 709 (2012), which underscored the dangers 
of government misrepresentations and the importance of protecting individuals from false narratives. 
Similarly, in Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78 (1935), the Court condemned prosecutorial misconduct, 
warning against tactics where prosecutors assume "the role of an architect of a proceeding that does not 
comport with standards of justice." By disregarding key exculpatory evidence and changing their theory of 
the case when one narrative failed, the DOJ demonstrated a clear abuse of power, violating fundamental 
principles of fairness and due process. 
 
Inflated Loss Amounts to Force Plea Deals 
 
The DOJ has now charged us with $161 million in fraud, despite total revenue being just $8 million for all 
companies invoiced in the DOJ’s fabricated caring documents. They are using a made up “intended loss” 
calculation rather than actual loss—an aggressive and controversial tactic designed to inflate sentences 
and pressure defendants into plea deals. Even in cases of actual fraud, the government typically bases 
sentencing on actual loss. By falsely inflating the alleged loss amount, the DOJ have now threatened us 
with 27 to 33 years in federal prison—harsher than the sentences for many convicted drug traffickers, 
murderers, and violent criminals. This is a clear abuse of power meant to coerce us into submission. 
 
The Legal System’s Corrupt Cycle: Attorneys Profiting While the Feds Push for a 
Plea 
 
For over three-in-a-half years, we have poured ridiculous amounts of money into attorneys who have 
done nothing to fight for us. Time and time again, we have brought up clear and valid arguments that 
could expose many flaws in this case, yet our attorneys ignore them, refuse to push back, and fail to 
hold the prosecution accountable. They never contact the feds, never challenge the misconduct, 
and instead tell us to ‘not poke the bear.’ This passive approach has only made things worse. If our 
attorneys had aggressively fought back from the start, this case should have resolved it self years 



ago. Instead, by doing nothing, the DOJ has been allowed to run rampant, and keep manufacturing 
crimes as more damaging claims pile on, making it harder and harder to fight back. 
 
It almost feels like a coordinated effort between the attorneys and the feds—stall us, bleed us dry 
financially, and eventually force a plea. The government wins by securing a conviction, and the 
attorneys win by collecting massive legal fees without ever going to trial. Meanwhile, we are left 
financially ruined and facing decades in prison for a case manufactured by the DOJ. This  never 
should have never gotten this far. 
 
Justice should be about fighting for the truth, not about who has the deepest pockets. Yet in this 
system, the only ones who truly win are the prosecutors and the lawyers—while the defendants 
are left destroyed. 
 
The FBI’s Manufactured Complaints & Coercive Tactics 
 
The government’s desperation to build a case against us is evident in their investigative methods: 

●​ Fake Complaint Campaign: The DOJ created a survey website in regards to the businesses in 
questions, and when that generated no traction the DOJ then issued over 6,000 subpoenas to 
businesses, essentially forcing them to respond under threat of legal action. This was done after 
the FBI failed to generate real complaints naturally. 

●​ The DOJ set up an email address, FalseInvoice@FBI.gov, where businesses receiving 
subpoenas were instructed to respond saying they received a fake invoice, not a solicitation. The 
subpoenas often included language implied that the recipients were victims of a crime. This 
overreach displayed a bias and unjust presumption that the person receiving the subpoena was 
the victim, which unfairly influenced their perception of the situation. 

●​ Illegal Evidence Collection: An individual snooped through Alec’s home without authorization, 
taking photographs of personal documents and belongings, which were then passed along to 
co-defendant Dylan Costanza, who later turned them over to the government. This was not an 
FBI-directed operation but a blatant invasion of privacy that should never have been admissible 
as evidence. 

●​ Coerced Testimonies: Several witnesses initially provided statements in our favor but reversed 
their testimony after being threatened with 30+ years in prison. This violates 18 U.S.C. § 242, 
which prohibits government officials from depriving citizens of their rights under color of law. 
 

The Government’s False COVID-19 Narrative 
 
In an egregious attempt to further vilify us and businesses we were associated with, the government 
falsely claimed that our business was designed to exploit the COVID-19 pandemic, framing the alleged 
fraud as part of a larger scheme to take advantage of struggling businesses. This claim is demonstrably 
false and contradicts the actual timeline of our operations. 
 
Our business was founded years before COVID-19 even existed, and we have extensive records proving 
that we were conducting the same lawful marketing practices well before the pandemic. Furthermore, 
none of the products or services we offered had anything to do with COVID-19 relief, emergency funding, 
or pandemic-related assistance. 
 
Despite having access to our business records, bank statements, and shipping records—all of which 
prove our operations long predated COVID-19—the government still attempted to use the pandemic as 
a tool to sway public opinion and justify their overreach. This was not about enforcing the law; it was 
about using fear-mongering to build a case that never should have existed in the first place. 
 
The Government’s Fraudulent Attempt to Revoke Bail & John Engler’s Arrest 
 
John Engler was unjustly arrested based on a false and unfounded allegation that he possessed a 
second passport. The government acted without verifying a claim and potentially flat out manufactured 



this claim. There was no physical evidence, no passport, no application, and no supporting 
documentation, yet the DOJ proceeded with the arrest. Despite John having already surrendered his 
passport as required by his pretrial bail conditions, authorities treated him as a flight risk, detaining him in 
Palm Beach County Jail under deliberately harsh conditions. This was not about upholding the law; it was 
a calculated act of intimidation meant to disrupt his legal defense and instill fear. 
 
Once the case went before a judge, the truth became evident: the allegations were baseless, 
unsupported by any evidence, and the government’s claims quickly unraveled. The judge promptly 
ordered John’s release, exposing the prosecution’s reckless disregard for due process. 
This misuse of the legal system mirrors the concerns raised in Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154 (1978), 
where the Supreme Court held that law enforcement cannot rely on knowingly false or recklessly 
disregarded information to obtain an arrest or search warrant. Just as in Franks, where fabricated 
evidence undermined the integrity of judicial proceedings, the government’s baseless accusations against 
John demonstrate an abuse of power designed to weaponize the legal process against him. 
Such tactics erode public trust in the justice system and highlight the selective and retaliatory nature 
of this prosecution. 
 
Co-Defendants Pressured into False Testimonies & Unfair Plea Deals 
 
The government has systematically coerced our co-defendants into pleading guilty under extreme 
pressure. 
 

●​ Kyle Gibson: Initially provided a statement in our favor but later reversed it after the DOJ 
threatened him with decades in prison. 

●​ Bryan Lantry: Initially cooperated with the government but later regretted his decision after 
realizing he had been misled and manipulated. The DOJ continues to use his coerced testimony 
against us. 

●​ Dylan Costanza: Taken to Rochester, NY, and pressured into accepting a plea deal. His attorney 
later admitted that the deal was terrible and unfair. Dylan has since expressed regret, stating he 
was pressured into signing something he didn’t fully understand. 

●​ Nicholas Scarantino: Accepted a plea deal while another supplier, Sefa, received only a 
corporate plea. This inconsistency in prosecution highlights how the government selectively 
applied pressure to different individuals. 

●​ Onur Menji: Originally named in the complaints but later had his charges quietly dropped, yet 
those closest to the business were still aggressively prosecuted. 
 

Even the attorneys representing our co-defendants have privately admitted they failed their clients by 
taking the easy way out rather than aggressively fighting these baseless charges. Many now 
acknowledge that the plea deals were secured through coercion and misinformation. 
 
The Government’s Use of an Illegally Obtained Recording 

In yet another blatant violation of legal and ethical standards, the government is relying on an illegally 
recorded conversation as evidence against us. This recording was secretly made by Bryan without our 
knowledge or consent and later handed over to the prosecution. Under established legal precedent, 
evidence obtained through illegal means—especially when recorded in violation of consent laws—should 
be inadmissible in court. Yet, the government is still attempting to use it, despite its clear unlawfulness. 

Not only was this recording obtained improperly, but it should actually exonerate us. At no point in the 
conversation were we aware we were being recorded, meaning there was no attempt to alter our 
statements or hide anything. In fact, during the recorded discussion, we explicitly referred to the 
solicitations as marketing mailers multiple times, making it clear there was no fraudulent intent. This 
directly contradicts the prosecution’s narrative and proves that we were conducting legitimate 
business. 



Under Lopez v. United States, 373 U.S. 427 (1963), the Supreme Court acknowledged that secret 
recordings can raise serious legal concerns, particularly when obtained without proper legal authority. 
Additionally, courts have ruled in United States v. White, 401 U.S. 745 (1971), that while government 
agents may record conversations under certain circumstances, private individuals who unlawfully record 
and later turn over evidence do not have the same protections. Given that Bryan was not acting under 
any official authority and recorded the conversation illegally, this evidence should be excluded. 

The fact that the government is willing to use an illegally obtained recording—one that actually disproves 
their case—shows their desperation and disregard for due process. This is not about justice; it’s about 
manipulating evidence to fit a false narrative. 

Withholding Evidence and Denying Due Process 

The government has continuously withheld critical records from us, refusing to provide key evidence 
that could expose their misconduct. Despite making at least ten formal requests over the past year for 
transcripts from Dylan Costanza’s court proceedings, we have received nothing. This deliberate 
refusal to provide records we are legally entitled to is a direct violation of due process and our right to a 
fair defense. 
 
Additionally, many of the individuals the government coerced into testifying against us were not just 
business associates—they were close friends. We have evidence of these same individuals 
previously stating that they knew our business was legitimate. Yet, the government has ignored this 
and instead pressured them into changing their stories under threat of excessive prison sentences. 
 
The DOJ is not playing fair. They are withholding exculpatory evidence, manipulating witnesses, and 
obstructing our ability to defend ourselves. This is not a pursuit of justice—it is a calculated effort to 
secure a conviction by any means necessary, even if it means violating our fundamental  and 
constitutional rights. 
 
Proof of Corruption: Special Treatment for Coerced Plea Deals 
 
One of the clearest examples of the government’s corruption and manipulation in this case is what 
transpired after Dylan Costanza accepted a plea deal. While on pretrial release, Dylan was subjected to 
random drug testing, as is standard procedure. However, immediately after he pled guilty, his attorney 
filed a motion requesting that he be allowed to smoke marijuana—an illegal act under federal law 
and in the state of Florida. 
 
What happened next is damning. Assistant U.S. Attorney Richard Resnick, who had been 
aggressively prosecuting us, suddenly had zero objections to Dylan’s motion. The same prosecutor 
who pushed for harsh penalties against us had no pushback when it came to granting a convicted 
defendant permission to break federal law. This raises serious concerns about prosecutorial 
discretion being used as a tool for coercion, a violation of due process principles upheld in Brady v. 
Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), which held that the government must turn over evidence favorable to 
the defense. By selectively offering preferential treatment to a defendant who accepted a plea deal, 
the prosecution demonstrated intentional bias in its pursuit of convictions. 
 
Furthermore, the concept of unconstitutional prosecutorial inducement was recognized in Santobello 
v. New York, 404 U.S. 257 (1971), where the Supreme Court held that plea agreements must be made 
in good faith and without manipulation. Here, the government’s willingness to allow Dylan to break 
federal law after securing his cooperation clearly shows that his plea agreement was not purely 
voluntary but rather induced by preferential treatment. 
 
This blatant double standard exposes the government’s willingness to bend the rules to force guilty 
pleas. Prosecutors have a legal duty to pursue justice, not just convictions (Berger v. United States, 
295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935)). Yet, in this case, Resnick’s failure to oppose a motion that directly 



contradicted federal drug policy—when it benefitted the government’s case—demonstrates 
prosecutorial bad faith. 
 
Thankfully, the judge denied the motion, recognizing the improper nature of the request. But the fact 
that the government was willing to ignore federal drug laws in exchange for a conviction speaks 
volumes about their real motives. This was never about justice—it was about pressuring 
co-defendants into guilty pleas by offering them under-the-table incentives, a practice that 
undermines the fairness of our legal system. 
 
This case isn’t about upholding the law. It’s about the DOJ fabricating a narrative, manipulating 
witnesses, and violating due process in order to secure convictions at any cost. Such prosecutorial 
misconduct erodes the integrity of our justice system and highlights the dangerous precedent of 
weaponizing plea deals as a coercive tool, a practice condemned in United States v. Ruiz, 536 U.S. 
622 (2002), where the Supreme Court acknowledged that plea agreements must be free from 
prosecutorial misconduct or coercion. 
 
Trump’s FTC Case vs. Our Criminal Indictment 
 
Former President Donald Trump’s campaign was investigated by the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) 
for allegedly misleading supporters with fine-print disclaimers on recurring donations. Instead of pursuing 
criminal charges, the FTC handled it as a civil matter, leading to a refund process rather than an 
indictment. FTC v. AMG Capital Management, LLC, 141 S. Ct. 1341 (2021) affirmed that the FTC does 
not have the authority to seek monetary relief without congressional approval, further proving that these 
types of cases belong in civil courts, not criminal courts. 
 
If Trump’s case—where donors were automatically enrolled in a monthly payment system—was treated 
as a civil matter, why is our case, which involves legally disclosed order forms, being treated as a criminal 
offense? The answer is simple: selective prosecution. 
 
Political Targeting and the Weaponization of Justice 
 
It is no coincidence that during Biden’s regime, the Department of Justice has aggressively pursued 
selective prosecutions against individuals who oppose the current administration’s policies. Time and 
time again, we have seen that those who stand against the liberal agenda are subjected to excessive 
legal scrutiny, fabricated charges, and aggressive prosecutorial misconduct. 
 
We have been outspoken supporters of President Donald Trump and his policies, believing in his 
vision of economic freedom, deregulation, and opportunities for small business owners and 
entrepreneurs. It has become evident that under the Biden administration, individuals who align with 
conservative values are disproportionately targeted in politically motivated prosecutions. This is not just a 
theory—it has been repeatedly demonstrated through the systematic indictment and harassment of 
those who oppose the current administration’s ideology. 
 
Perhaps the clearest example of this came after our visit to Mar-a-Lago. At a time when we thought the 
case was dying down, the government suddenly ramped up its efforts against us, resuming their 
aggressive tactics and continuing their prosecutorial overreach. Following our visit, they reignited their 
investigation with newfound hostility, issuing an onslaught of subpoenas—not just to us, but to 
every person or business we had ever worked with, in a clear attempt to intimidate and isolate us. 
 
This case is not about justice; it is about political retaliation. The DOJ’s decision to subpoena every 
single record from every single individual or business we have ever dealt with—personally or 
professionally—demonstrates their desperation to manufacture a case against us. This is the 
weaponization of law enforcement against those who do not conform to the radical left’s agenda. 
 



In today’s America, if you dare to support Donald Trump, capitalism, and free enterprise, you are 
labeled a criminal. The government no longer cares about facts or evidence—they care about punishing 
political opponents. We are living proof of how this administration has abandoned fairness and due 
process in favor of ideological warfare, using the legal system as a weapon to silence, bankrupt, and 
destroy those who stand against them. 
 
Conclusion: A Dangerous Precedent for American Businesses 
 
It has become clear that during President Biden’s regime, if you support the opposing side, the first thing 
they do is discredit you, followed by throwing you in jail. That is exactly what has happened to us. 
We are fathers, husbands, and business owners with no criminal history. We fully cooperated with the 
government, fulfilled every order, and never intended to deceive anyone. Yet, we are facing the possibility 
of life in prison over a business dispute. 
 
We ask for your support, legal guidance, and connections to help us fight back against this manufactured 
prosecution before it sets a dangerous precedent for business owners across the country. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
Alec Dierna 



IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF THE UNITED STATES 
For the Western District of New York 

       
 

OCTOBER 2023 GRAND JURY 
(Impaneled October 11, 2023) 

 
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA                                                   
     
           -vs-       SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 
        24-CR- 06045-EAW-MWP 
         
JOHN ENGLER, 
      (Counts 1-51) 
ALEC DIERNA 
      (Counts 1-51)  
TOMMY LEE COBURN  
      (Counts 1, 4-9, 51) 
KYLE PAUL EDWARD GIBSON 

 Violations: 
Title 18, United States Code, 
1341, 1349, 1956(h) and 2.  
(51 Counts and 6 Forfeiture 
Allegations) 

      (Counts 1, 10-20, 51)  
NICHOLAS SCARANTINO 
      (Count 1) 
HEATHER DIERNA  

  

     (Counts 1, 4, 5, 8, 9) 
 

 

SUPERSEDING INDICTMENT 
 

The Grand Jury Charges That: 

At all times relevant to this Superseding Indictment: 
 

INTRODUCTION 

A. DEFENDANTS AND COCONSPIRATORS  

1. The defendants, JOHN ENGLER (“ENGLER”) and ALEC DIERNA 

(“ALEC DIERNA”), the architects and ringleaders of the conspiracy and scheme, resided in 

the Boca Raton area in Florida.   

Case 6:24-cr-06045-EAW-CDH     Document 34     Filed 05/14/24     Page 1 of 56



2 

2. The defendants, TOMMY LEE COBURN (“COBURN”) and KYLE PAUL 

EDWARD GIBSON (“GIBSON”), resided in the Boca Raton, Delray Beach and Pompano 

Beach areas in Florida.     

3. The defendant, NICHOLAS SCARANTINO (“SCARANTINO”), resided in 

Van Nuys, California.  

4. The defendant, HEATHER DIERNA (“HEATHER DIERNA”), resided in 

the Rochester, New York area.   

5. Coconspirators Dylan Paul Costanza, Bryan Lantry, T.H. and S.D. resided in 

the Fort Lauderdale and Pompano Beach areas in Florida.   

 

 B.    ENTITIES  

Engler Entities 

6. On or about January 28, 2019, ENGLER incorporated Office Outlet U.S.A., 

LLC (“Office Outlet”) in Florida.  

7. On or about June 14, 2019, ENGLER incorporated America’s Best Chemicals, 

LLC (“America’s Best”) in Florida. 

8. On or about February 11, 2021, ENGLER incorporated Engler Holdings LLC 

in Florida. 

Alec Dierna’s Entities 

9. On or about August 12, 2020, ALEC DIERNA incorporated United 

Chemicals, LLC (“United Chemicals) in Florida. 
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10. On or about February 11, 2021, ALEC DIERNA incorporated Dierna 

Enterprise LLC in Florida. 

Engler’s and Alec Dierna’s Entity 

11. On or about April 12, 2021, ENGLER and ALEC DIERNA incorporated 

Prince Venture Capital LLC in Florida.   

Costanza’s Entities  

12. On or about October 20, 2020, Dylan Paul Costanza incorporated Hi-Tech 

Industrial Company LLC (“Hi- Tech Industrial”) in Florida.  

13. On or about January 27, 2021, Dylan Paul Costanza incorporated Simple Pro 

Solutions LLC (“Simple Pro Solutions”) in Florida. 

14. On or about June 14, 2021, Dylan Paul Costanza incorporated Day Cost 

Marketing LLC (“Day Cost Marketing) in Florida. 

Coburn’s Entities  

15. On or about January 19, 2021, COBURN incorporated North Atlantic Supply 

Company LLC (“North Atlantic Supply”) in New York. 

16. On or about June 28, 2021, COBURN incorporated Top Tier Chemicals LLC 

(“Top Tier Chemicals”) in New York. 

Gibson’s Entity  

17. On or about February 18, 2021, GIBSON incorporated Nationwide Chemicals 

LLC (“Nationwide Chemicals”) in Florida. 
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Scarantino’s Entity  

18. On or about June 20, 2021, SCARANTINO incorporated Direct Chemical 

Solutions LLC (“Direct Chemical”) in California. 

T.H.’s Entities  

19. On or about February 26, 2021, T.H. incorporated Easton Chemical Products 

LLC (“Easton Chemical”) in Florida 

Lantry’s Entities  

20. On or about May 13, 2021, Bryan Lantry incorporated Safety Supply Center 

LLC (“Safety Supply”) in Florida.   

21. On or about September 14, 2021, Bryan Lantry had Union Gloves LLC 

(“Union Gloves”) incorporated in Florida.   

22. On or about   July 12, 2021, Bryan Lantry incorporated Lantry Enterprise LLC 

in Florida. 

S.D.’s Entities  

23. On or about August 26, 2021, S.D. incorporated Wholesale Chem Supplies 

LLC in Florida. 

24. On or about August 26, 2021, S.D. incorporated Five Star Warehouse LLC 

(“Five Star Warehouse”) in Florida. 
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COUNT 1 
(Conspiracy to Commit Mail Fraud) 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and Count 51 are incorporated herein by 

reference. 

THE OBJECT OF THE CONSPIRACY 

2. Between in or about August 2020 and in or about July 2022, in the Western 

District of New York, and elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER, ALEC DIERNA, 

TOMMY LEE COBURN, KYLE PAUL EDWARD GIBSON, NICHOLAS 

SCARANTINO and HEATHER DIERNA, did knowingly, willfully, and unlawfully 

combine, conspire, and agree with others, known and unknown to the Grand Jury, including 

Dylan Paul Costanza, Bryan Lantry, T.H. and S.D., to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud 

victim companies throughout the United States, and to obtain money and property from such 

victim companies by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, 

and for the purposes of executing such scheme and artifice to place in any post office and 

authorized depository for mail matter, matter and things to be sent and delivered by the Postal 

Service; to deposit, and cause to be deposited, matter and things to be sent and delivered by 

private and commercial interstate carrier; and to knowingly cause to be delivered by mail and 

private and commercial interstate carrier according to the direction thereon and at the place 

at which it was directed to be delivered by the person to whom it was addressed matter and 

things, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341. 

3. The object of the conspiracy and scheme was to mass mail documents that 

appeared to be legitimate invoices to many thousands of primarily large companies 

throughout the United States (collectively, the “Victim Companies” and individually, a 
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“Victim Company”) to trick and defraud the Victim Companies into paying the fake and 

fictitious invoices (“fictitious invoices”) under the mistaken belief that the Victim Companies 

had previously ordered and received the products listed on the fictitious invoices.  The names 

of the following sham companies identified below (collectively, the “Sham Companies”) were 

used on the fictitious invoices: 

a. Office Outlet - (John Engler) 
b. America’s Best - (John Engler) 
c. United Chemicals - (Alec Dierna)   
d. Hi-Tech Industrial - (Dylan Costanza) 
e. North Atlantic Supply – (Tommy Coburn) 
f. Top Tier Chemicals - (Tommy Coburn) 
g. Nationwide Chemicals - (Kyle Gibson) 
h. Direct Chemical - (Nicholas Scarantino) 
i. Easton Chemical – (T.H.) 
j. Safety Supply - (Bryan Lantry) 
k. Union Gloves - (Bryan Lantry) 

 

OVERVIEW OF CONSPIRACY 

Defendants/Coconspirators Entry in Conspiracy/Scheme 

4. In or about January 2019, ENGLER began mailing fictitious invoices in the 

name of Office Outlet from Florida to Victim Companies and continued to do so until in or 

about August 2019.   

5. In or about August 2019, ENGLER then began mailing fictitious invoices in 

the name of America’s Best from Florida to Victim Companies and continued to do so until 

in or about August 2020.  

6. In or about August 2020, ENGLER recruited ALEC DIERNA to participate 

in his scheme, which began the conspiracy.  Fictitious invoices in the name of ALEC 
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DIERNA’s company, United Chemicals, were mailed from Florida to Victim Companies 

until in or about April 2021.  

7. In or about October 2020, Dylan Paul Costanza joined the conspiracy.  

Fictitious invoices in the name of Dylan Paul Costanza’s company, Hi-Tech Chemical, were 

mailed from Florida to Victim Companies until in or about February 2021.  

8. In or about February 2021, GIBSON joined the conspiracy.   Fictitious invoices 

in the name of his company, Nationwide Chemical, were mailed from Florida to Victim 

Companies until in or about September 2021.  

9. In or about January 2021, COBURN and HEATHER DIERNA joined the 

conspiracy.  Fictitious invoices in the names of COBURN’s companies, North Atlantic 

Supply and Top Tier Chemical, were mailed in bulk from Florida to HEATHER DIERNA 

in the Rochester, New York area until in or about November 2021.  HEATHER DIERNA 

then mailed the individual fictitious invoices from the Rochester, New York area to Victim 

Companies. 

10. In or about February 2021, T.H. joined the conspiracy.  Fictitious invoices in 

the names of his company, Easton Chemicals, were mailed to Victim Companies until in or 

about May 2021. 

11. In or about July 2021, SCARANTINO joined the conspiracy.  Fictitious 

invoices in name of SCARANTINO’s company, Direct Chemicals, were mailed in bulk from 

Florida to SCARANTINO in California until in or about November 2021.  SCARANTINO 

then mailed the individual fictitious invoices from California to Victim Companies. 
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12. In or about May 2021, Bryan Lantry joined the conspiracy.  Fictitious invoices 

in the names of his companies, Safety Supply and Union Gloves, were mailed to thousands 

of Victim Companies until in or about November 2021.  

13. In or about August 2021, S.D. joined the conspiracy.  His companies, 

Wholesale Chem Supplies LLC and Five Star Warehouse LLC, were used in an attempt to 

conceal the fraud after Victim Companies paid the fictitious invoices. 

Large Companies Targeted 

14. The defendants targeted large companies (the Victim Companies) located all 

over the United States to send fictitious invoices because it was less likely, especially during 

the COVID-19 pandemic, that such companies’ account payable departments would question 

(a) whether another of the companies’ departments had in fact previously ordered and 

received the products listed on the fictitious invoices, and (b) the relatively small amounts 

owed on the fictitious invoices. The defendants identified the Victim Companies through the 

purchase of mailing lists. 

Design of the Fictitious Invoices 

15. While intending that the fictitious invoices look exactly like legitimate invoices, 

the defendants placed in hard-to-find places statements, usually on the second page, (a) that 

the documents were merely “solicitations” to order product, and (b) that there was no 

obligation to pay the amounts listed on the fictitious invoices. Below are examples from of 

such documents from each of the Sham Companies: 
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a. North Atlantic Supply  
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b. Nationwide Chemicals 
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c.   Safety Supply 
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16. When questioned by any of the Victim Companies or government agencies 

about the legitimacy of the fictitious invoices, the defendants would falsely claim that the 

intended purpose of the documents was merely to “solicit” future business from the Victim 

Companies. 

Victim Companies Tricked into Paying the Fictitious Invoices 

17. As a result of the scheme and conspiracy, from the many thousands of Victim 

Companies that received fictitious invoices, approximately 5,458 of such Victim Companies 

were tricked and defrauded into believing that they had received a legitimate invoice for 

products that they had previously ordered and received from the Sham Companies.  Many of 

such Victim Companies were tricked and defrauded more than once.  

18. The approximately 5,458 Victim Companies that were tricked and defrauded 

into paying the fictitious invoices made a total of 8,613 payments to the Shame Companies.  

Many of such payments were made by the mailing of checks to the Sham Companies to  

Florida or Rochester, New York, while  in a few cases, the Victim Companies paid the 

fictitious invoices by electronic payment.  

19. Checks from the Victim Companies that were mailed to Rochester, New York 

were picked up by HEATHER DIERNA and deposited by her into bank accounts in the 

names of North Atlantic Supply and Top Tier Chemical.    

20. The total amount paid by the approximately 5,458 Victim Companies to the 

Sham Companies was approximately $8,010,543.50.  From this amount, approximately 

$4,015,741.03 was transferred to the ringleaders, ENGLER and ALEC DIERNA, or to 
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companies owned by them, including, Prince Venture Capital LLC, Engler Holdings LLC, 

and Dierna Enterprise LLC.    

Victim Companies Not Tricked into Paying The Fictitious Invoices 

21. The defendants set up a call center to handle the thousands of calls and emails 

that the Sham Companies would receive from Victim Companies who, while not being 

immediately tricked into paying the fictitious invoices, had questions about why they had 

received what they believed were invoices (not “solicitations”).  

22. At the call center, fictitious employee names from the Sham Companies were 

used to provide false statements and false explanations to respond to inquiries from Victim 

Companies or government agencies.  For example, Victim Companies who inquired about 

the fictitious invoices would be told that some unknown employee from the Victim 

Companies had requested that the Sham Companies provide a quote (or solicitation) for the 

products, when in fact, the defendants knew that the Victim Companies had never requested 

a quote.   

23. Below is an example of a script used by the defendants or their employees at 

the call center when the Victim Companies contacted the Sham Companies to inquire about 

what the Victim Companies believed was an invoice:  
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24. As depicted in the first line of the script, the defendants, who were anticipating 

that the Victim Companies who were not immediately tricked into paying the fictitious 

invoices would still believe that what they had received was an “invoice”, would not advise 

the Victim Companies that the document was only a “solicitation”.   

25. As depicted later in the script, even though the defendants knew that the Victim 

Companies had never requested any products or quotes for such products, the defendants and 

their employees would respond to the question “Who requested it” by falsely stating “Let me 

look in the notes for you…(pause your checking the notes) I apologize our sales team failed to collect that 

information” and it “looks like it was requested ____ (insert date)”.   

26. When the Victim Companies requested that the Sham Companies provide an 

IRS Form W-9 before a payment could be made, the defendants did not advise the Victim 

Companies that the document they received was not an invoice, and the defendants used 

fictitious employee names when communicating with the Victim Companies and when 

signing the Form W-9s.  For Example, as depicted below, a victim company emailed Safety 

Supply stating “I received invoice 759776 in the mail. Could you please send me your W9.” 

In the response by Safety Supply, the victim company was not corrected nor  informed that 

the mailing was a solicitation and not an invoice. 
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Shipping Cheap Product to Cover Up the Fraud 

27. After receiving a payment from the Victim Companies who were tricked into 

paying the fictitious invoices, the defendants attempted to cover up their fraud by having 

delivered to such Victim Companies inexpensive products worth substantially less than what 

the Victim Companies had been charged.   
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28. For most of the Sham Companies, the Victim Companies usually received one 

box containing four 1-gallon jugs of cheap and inexpensive cleaner/degreaser solution worth 

approximately $20 for which they were charged more than $560.   

29. For Safety Supply and Union Gloves, the Victim Companies received cheap 

and inexpensive personal protection equipment (“PPE”) products.  For example, the Victim 

Companies would receive a 100-pack of disposable gloves worth approximately $12 for which 

they charged the Victim Companies $390.       

30. In addition to attempting to cover up their fraud by delivering cheap 

cleaner/degreaser or PPE products to the Victim Companies, the defendants made it 

impossible for the Victim Companies to connect and link the delivery of such products to the 

Victim Companies prior payment of the fictitious invoices, by doing, among other things, the 

following: 

a. The products were not delivered to the Victim Companies until several weeks 

or months after the Victim Companies had been tricked into paying the fraudulent 

invoices.  For example, one of the Victim Companies made its payment to Hi-Tech 

Industrial Chemical on or about December 17, 2020, but the company did not receive the 

cheap cleaner/degreaser products until on or about March 12, 2021.  

b. The products when delivered did not include a copy of the document appearing 

to be a legitimate invoice nor any other shipping document that would have connected 

the products to the fictitious invoice which the Victim Companies had paid, 

c. The products when delivered did not include any information identifying that 

the products had been purchased from the Sham Companies.  
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d. Oftentimes, the only paperwork included with the shipment of 

cleaner/degreaser products was a sheet of paper indicating the contents were a “sample”, 

which would cause the Victim Companies to believe that what they received was an 

unsolicited sample of products that they could purchase in the future and which would 

result in such Victim Companies not connecting the “sample” products to the fictitious 

invoices which the Victim Companies had been tricked into paying.  Below is an example 

of a Pick Ticket included with a shipment of cleaner/degreaser products received by a 

Victim Company which indicates the shipment contains merely “sample product”:  

 

e. The company name on the return address labels when the cleaner/degreaser 

products were delivered contained the name of companies other than the Sham 

Companies, that is, either Simple Pro Solutions or Wholesale Chem Supplies.  Below are 

examples of such labels: 
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f. The PPE products from Safety Supply and Union Gloves when delivered 

contained fraudulent return address information on the shipping labels that contained (i) 

a fictitious person’s name, “Xi Chin”, (ii) a different business name, “Five Star 

Warehouse”, and (iii) made-up phone numbers that belonged to a teenage girl in Florida 

and a woman in the Rochester, New York area, both of whom received numerous phone 

calls from various Victim Companies inquiring about the products that the Victim 

Companies had just received which they believed they had never ordered.  Below is an 

example of such a shipping label with fraudulent return address information: 
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31. Despite the defendants’ contention that the documents they sent to the Victim 

Companies were not invoices but were merely “solicitations” or “quotes” to find new 

customers, the defendants, after receiving payments from the Victim Companies, who thus 

would have responded favorably to the documents if in fact such documents were merely 

“solicitations” or “quotes”, never again attempted to contact the Victim Companies (a) to sell 

additional products or to develop customer relationships, both of which would have been 

expected as normal business practices if in fact the Victim Companies had responded 

favorably to legitimate “solicitations” or “quotes”, and (b) because any such contact would 

have alerted the Victim Companies that they had been previously tricked into paying the 

fictitious invoices. 
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MEANS BY WHICH THE OBJECT OF THE 
CONSPIRACY WAS TO BE ACCOMPLISHED 

The object of the conspiracy was accomplished through the following means and 

methods: 

Victim Companies Nationwide 

32. Between in or about January 2019, and in or about November 2021, documents 

that the defendants intended to trick the Victim Companies into believing was a legitimate 

invoice from the Sham Companies for products that the Victim Companies had previously 

ordered and received were mailed from Florida and Rochester, New York to many thousands 

of Victim Companies throughout the United States  

33. The Victim Companies that were tricked into paying the fictitious invoices 

would mail a check to either Florida or Rochester, or in a few cases, make an electric payment.  

34. Between in or about the dates set forth below, the approximate number of 

Victim Companies set forth below (a) received fictitious invoices by mail in the names of the 

Sham Companies set forth below, and (b) were tricked into making payments to such Sham 

Companies in the approximate amounts set forth below, by either mailing checks or electronic 

payments: 
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SHAM 
COMPANIES 

DATES OF 
PAYMENT OF 
FICTITIOUS 
INVOICES 

APPROXIMATE 
NUMBER OF 

PAYMENTS BY THE 
APPROXIMATELY 

5,458 VICTIM 
COMPANIES 

TOTAL 
APPROXIMATE 

AMOUNT OF 
PAYMENTS 

Office Outlet 01/2019-07/2021 170 $100,194.90 

America’s Best 08/2019-09/2020 433 $254,097.12 

United Chemicals 08/2020-04/2021 880 $524,713.12 

Hi-Tech Industrial 11/2020-04/2021 425 $255,822.78 

Nationwide 
Chemical 

02/2021-09/2021 1,145 $822,583.46 

Easton Chemical 04/2021-05/2021 128 $79,328.86 

Direct Chemical  07/2021-11/2021 873 $861,268.66 

North Atlantic 
Supply 

02/2021-09/2021 
1,805 

 
$1,385,442.67 

Top Tier Chemicals  07/2021-11/2021 1,265 $1,257,380.40 

Safety Supply 05/2021-04/2022 1,210 $2,188,462.02 

Union Gloves 10/2021-05/2022 279 $281,249.50 

TOTAL 
(approximate) 

 8,613 $8,010,543.50 

 

35. The Victim Companies’ payments totaled approximately $8,010,543.50 were 

deposited into bank accounts in the names of the Sham Companies.  From this amount, 

approximately $4,015,741.03 was transferred to bank accounts belonging to ENGLER and 

ALEC DIERNA, or to their companies, Prince Venture Capital LLC, Engler Holdings LLC, 

and Dierna Enterprise LLC.   
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36. After receiving a payment from the Victim Companies, inexpensive 

cleaner/degreaser or PPE products, worth substantially less than what the Victim Companies 

had been charged, were delivered and shipped by private commercial carrier to the Victim 

Companies with no identifying information or documentation connecting such deliveries to 

the Sham Companies, and with misleading return address information on the shipping labels. 

Victim Companies in Western District of New York 

37. On or about the dates set forth below, the Victim Companies identified below, 

received by the United States Postal Service to the places set forth below in the Western 

District of New York, fictitious invoices in the names of the Sham Companies identified 

below by initials, which caused the Victim Companies to mail checks in the amounts set forth 

below from the Western District of New York to the Sham Companies on or about the dates 

set forth below: 

 

VICTIM 
COMPANY 

SHAM 
COMPANY 

DATE 
INVOICE 
MAILED 

CHECK 
AMOUNT 
PAYING 
INVOICE 

PLACES INVOICE 
MAILED TO  

DATE CHECK 
MAILED 

FROM WDNY  

VC 1 ABC 05/27/2020 $588.62 Buffalo, NY 6/30/2020 

VC 2 NASC 04/02/2021 $585.78 Henrietta, NY 04/13/2021 

VC 3 NASC 04/02/2021 $585.78 Lakewood, NY 05/10/2021 

VC 4 NASC 04/02/2021 $585.78 Brockport, NY 05/12/2021 

VC 5 NWC 04/22/2021 $588.69 Rochester, NY 05/05/2021 

VC 6 NWC 06/10/2021 $994.66 Avon, NY 07/15/2021 

VC 7 NWC 06/10/2021 $994.66 Tonawanda, NY 07/12/2021 

VC 8 NWC 06/24/2021  $3,970.24 Rochester, NY 07/25/2021 

VC 9 NWC 06/03/2021 $993.76 Niagara Falls, NY 07/15/2021 

VC 10 NWC 06/24/2021 $984.69 Henrietta, NY 08/20/2021 

VC 11 SS 06/15/2021 $1,924.79 Clarence Center, NY 06/22/2021 

VC 11 SS 06/30/2021 $1,763.00 Clarence Center, NY 07/09/2021 
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VICTIM 
COMPANY 

SHAM 
COMPANY 

DATE 
INVOICE 
MAILED 

CHECK 
AMOUNT 
PAYING 
INVOICE 

PLACES INVOICE 
MAILED TO  

DATE CHECK 
MAILED 

FROM WDNY  

VC 12 SS 07/14/2021 $1,877.60 Rochester, NY 07/24/2021 

VC 13 SS 07/28/2021 $1,762.00 West Seneca, NY 08/13/2021 

VC 14 SS 08/03/2021 $1,764.00 Olean, NY 09/02/2021 

VC 15 SS 08/03/2021 $1,764.00 Williamsville, NY 09/08/2021 

VC 16 SS 09/01/2021 $1,778.00 Rochester, NY 09/10/2021 

VC 17 SS 09/01/2021 $1,778.00 LeRoy, NY 10/12/2021 

VC 18 SS 09/14/2021 $1,786.00 Kenmore, NY 11/05/2021 

VC 19 SS 09/14/2021 $1,786.00 Scottsville, NY 11/19/2021 

VC 20 SS 09/21/2021 $1,783.00 Buffalo, NY 10/08/2021 

VC 21 SS 09/28/2021 $1,781.00 Lancaster, NY 09/30/2021 

VC 22 SS 10/05/2021 $1,787.00 Victor, NY 10/18/2021 

VC 23 SS 10/12/2021 $1,789.00 Rochester, NY 11/05/2021 

VC 24 SS 10/26/2021 $ 978.00 Rochester, NY 11/04/2021 

VC 25 TTC 08/16/2021 $993.31 Andover, NY 08/25/2021 

 

38. On or about the dates set forth below, the Victim Companies set forth below, 

received by the United States Postal Service or private commercial carrier in the town or city 

set forth below in the Western District of New York, inexpensive cleaner/degreaser or PPE 

products: 

 

VICTIM 
COMPANY 

DATE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED TO 
VICTIM COMPANIES 

PLACE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED TO 

IN WDNY 

VC 3 07/09/2021 Lakewood, NY 

VC 4 07/27/2021 Brockport, NY 

VC 5 03/01/2022 Henrietta, NY 

VC 6 08/13/2021 Avon, NY 

VC 7 09/02/2021 Tonawanda, NY 

VC 10 10/26/2021 Henrietta, NY 

VC 11 08/31/2021 Clarence Center, NY 

VC 11 09/01/2021 Clarence Center, NY 
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All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349. 

COUNT 2 
(Mail Fraud) 

America’s Best – Fictitious Invoices Mailed 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and in Counts 1 and 51 are incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. On or about May 27, 2020, in the Western District of New York, and 

elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER and ALEC DIERNA, did devise, and intend to 

devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud a Victim Company identified as VC 1, and to obtain 

money and property from VC 1 by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, 

and promises. 

VICTIM 
COMPANY 

DATE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED TO 
VICTIM COMPANIES 

PLACE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED TO 

IN WDNY 
VC 12 01/12/2022 Rochester, NY 

VC 13 08/25/2021 West Seneca, NY 

VC 14 10/28/2021 Olean, NY 

VC 15 11/11/2021 Williamsville, NY 

VC 16 11/09/2021 Rochester, NY 

VC 17  12/09/2021 LeRoy, NY 

VC 18 01/26/2022 Kenmore, NY 

VC 19  12/09/2021 Scottsville, NY 

VC 20 01/26/2022 Buffalo, NY 

VC 21 01/26/2022 Lancaster, NY 

VC 22 12/09/2021 Victor, NY 

VC 23 12/15/2021 Rochester, NY 

VC 24 12/20/2021 Rochester, NY 
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3. Between in or about February 2021, and in or about November 2021, in the 

Western District of New York, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the 

scheme and artifice, the defendants knowingly caused to be delivered by mail according to 

the direction thereon, deposited and caused to be deposited, and placed in an authorized 

depository for mail, to be sent and delivered by the Postal Service the following matter: a 

fictitious invoice for $588.62 in the name of ALEC DIENRA’s company, America’s best. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2. 

 

COUNT 3 
(Mail Fraud) 

America’s Best – Victim Company Checks Mailed 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and in Counts 1, 2 and 51 are incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. On or about May 27, 2020, in the Western District of New York, and 

elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER and ALEC DIERNA, did devise, and intend to 

devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud a Victim Company identified as VC 1, and to obtain 

money and property from VC 1 by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, 

and promises. 

3. Between in or about February 2021, and in or about November 2021, in the 

Western District of New York, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the 

scheme and artifice, the defendants knowingly caused to be delivered by mail according to 

the direction thereon, and  caused to be deposited, and placed in an authorized depository for 
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mail,  to be sent and delivered by the Postal Service, the following matter: a check from the 

VC 1 in the amount of $588.62 to ALEC DIERNA’s company, America Best.  

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2. 

COUNT 4 
(Mail Fraud) 

North Atlantic Supply – Fictitious Invoices Mailed 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and in Counts 1 and 51 are incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. Between in or about February 2021, and in or about November 2021, in the 

Western District of New York, and elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER, ALEC 

DIERNA, TOMMY LEE COBURN and HEATHER DIERNA, did devise, and intend to 

devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud Victim Companies, and to obtain money and property 

from Victim Companies by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and 

promises. 

3. Between in or about February 2021, and in or about November 2021, in the 

Western District of New York, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the 

scheme and artifice, the defendants knowingly caused to be delivered by mail according to 

the direction thereon, and deposited and caused to be deposited, and placed in an authorized 

depository for mail,  to be sent and delivered by the Postal Service, the following matter: 

fictitious invoices in the name of COBURN’s company, North Atlantic Supply. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2. 
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COUNT 5 
(Mail Fraud) 

North Atlantic Supply – Victim Checks Mailed 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and in Counts 1, 4 and 51 are incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. Between in or about March 2021, and in or about November 2021, in the 

Western District of New York, and elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER, ALEC 

DIERNA, TOMMY LEE COBURN and HEATHER DIERNA, did devise, and intend to 

devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud the Victim Companies, and to obtain money and 

property from the Victim Companies by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, and promises. 

3. Between in or about March 2021, and in or about November 2021, for the 

purpose of executing, and attempting to execute, the scheme and artifice, the defendants 

knowingly caused to be delivered by mail according to the direction thereon, and caused to 

be deposited, and placed in an authorized depository for mail, to be sent and delivered by the 

Postal Service, the following matter: checks from the Victim Companies to COBURN’s 

company, North Atlantic Supply.  

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2. 
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COUNTS 6 and 7 
(Mail Fraud) 

North Atlantic Supply – Cheap Product Shipped 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and in Counts 1, 4, 5 and 51 are 

incorporated herein by reference. 

2. Between in or about October 2020, and in or about January 2022, in the 

Western District of New York, and elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER, ALEC 

DIERNA and TOMMY LEE COBURN, did devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and 

artifice to defraud Victim Companies, and to obtain money and property from Victim 

Companies by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises. 

3. On or about the dates set forth below, for the purpose of executing, and 

attempting to execute, the scheme and artifice, the defendants placed in any post office and 

authorized depository mail matter to be sent and delivered by the Postal Service; deposited 

and caused to be deposited to be sent and delivered by private and commercial interstate 

carrier; and knowingly caused to be delivered by mail and private and commercial interstate 

carrier according to the direction thereon the following matter: inexpensive cleaner/degreaser 

products to Victim Companies who made payment to COBURN’s company, North Atlantic 

Supply: 

COUNT VICTIM 
COMPANY 

DATE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED TO 
VICTIM COMPANIES 

PLACE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED 

TO IN WDNY 

6 VC 3 07/09/2021 Lakewood, NY 

7 VC 4 07/27/2021 Brockport, NY 
 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2 
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COUNT 8 
(Mail Fraud) 

Top Tier Chemical – Fictitious Invoices Mailed 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and in Counts 1 and 51 are incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. Between in or about February 2021, and in or about November 2021, in the 

Western District of New York, and elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER, ALEC 

DIERNA, TOMMY LEE COBURN and HEATHER DIERNA, did devise, and intend to 

devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud Victim Companies, and to obtain money and property 

from Victim Companies by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and 

promises. 

3. Between in or about February 2021, and in or about November 2021, in the 

Western District of New York, for the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the 

scheme and artifice, the defendants knowingly caused to be delivered by mail according to 

the direction thereon, and deposited and caused to be deposited, and placed in an authorized 

depository for mail,  to be sent and delivered by the Postal Service, the following matter: 

fictitious invoices in the name of COBURN’s company, Top Tier Chemical. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2. 
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COUNT 9 
(Mail Fraud) 

Top Tier Chemicals - Victim Checks Mailed 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and in Counts 1, 8 and 51 are incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. Between in or about March 2021, and in or about November 2021, in the 

Western District of New York, and elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER, ALEC 

DIERNA, TOMMY LEE COBURN and HEATHER DIERNA, did devise, and intend to 

devise, a scheme and artifice to defraud the Victim Companies, and to obtain money and 

property from the Victim Companies by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, 

representations, and promises. 

3. Between in or about March 2021, and in or about November 2021, for the 

purpose of executing, and attempting to execute, the scheme and artifice, the defendants 

knowingly caused to be delivered by mail according to the direction thereon, and caused to 

be deposited, and placed in an authorized depository for mail, to be sent and delivered by the 

Postal Service, the following matter: checks from the Victim Companies to COBURN’s 

company, Top Tier Chemical.  

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2. 
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COUNTS 10 through 16 
(Mail Fraud) 

Nationwide Chemicals – Fictitious Invoices and Victim Checks Mailed 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and in Counts 1 and 51 are incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. Between in or about April 2021, and in or about January 2022, in the Western 

District of New York, and elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER, ALEC DIERNA 

and KYLE PAUL EDWARD GIBSON, did devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and 

artifice to defraud Victim Companies, and to obtain money and property from Victim 

Companies by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises. 

3. On or about the dates set forth below, in the Western District of New York, for 

the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the scheme and artifice, the defendants 

knowingly caused to be delivered by mail according to the direction thereon, and deposited 

and caused to be deposited, and placed in an authorized depository for mail, to be sent and 

delivered by the Postal Service, the following matter: fictitious invoices in the name of  

GIBSON’s company, Nationwide Chemicals, and checks from the Victim Companies to 

Nationwide Chemicals: 

COUNT 
VICTIM 

COMPANY 
DATE OF 
INVOICE 

AMOUNT 
INVOICE/ 

CHECK 

TOWN/CITY 
INVOICE 

MAILED TO  

DATE CHECK 
MAILED FROM 

WDNY 

10 VC 5 04/22/2021 $588.69 Rochester, NY 05/05/2021 

11 VC 6 06/10/2021 $994.66 Avon, NY 07/15/2021 

12 VC 7 06/10/2021 $994.66 
Tonawanda, 

NY 
07/12/2021 
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COUNT 
VICTIM 

COMPANY 
DATE OF 
INVOICE 

AMOUNT 
INVOICE/ 

CHECK 

TOWN/CITY 
INVOICE 

MAILED TO  

DATE CHECK 
MAILED FROM 

WDNY 

13 VC 8 06/24/2021 $1,985.24 Rochester, NY 07/25/2021 

14 VC 8 06/24/2021 $1,985.24 Rochester, NY NA 

15 VC 9 06/03/2021 $993.76 
Niagara Falls, 

NY 
07/15/2021 

16 VC 10 06/24/2021 $984.69 Henrietta, NY 08/20/2021 

 
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2. 

COUNTS 17 through 20 
(Mail Fraud) 

Nationwide Chemicals – Cheap Products Shipped 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. he allegations in the Introduction and in Count 1, Counts 10 through 16, and 

51 are incorporated herein by reference. 

2. Between in or about October 2020, and in or about March 2022, in the Western 

District of New York, and elsewhere, the defendant, JOHN ENGLER, ALEC DIERNA 

and KYLE PAUL EDWARD GIBSON, did devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and 

artifice to defraud the Victim Companies, and to obtain money and property from the Victim 

Companies by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises. 

3. On or about the dates set forth below, for the purpose of executing, and 

attempting to execute, the scheme and artifice, the defendants deposited and caused to be 

deposited, to be sent and delivered by private and commercial interstate carrier; and 

knowingly caused to be delivered by mail and private and commercial interstate carrier 

according to the direction thereon, the following matter:  inexpensive cleaner/degreaser 
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products to Victim Companies who made payment to GIBSON’s company, Nationwide 

Chemical: 

COUNT 
VICTIM 

COMPANY 

DATE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED TO 
VICTIM COMPANIES 

PLACE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED 

TO IN WDNY 

17 VC 5 03/01/2022 Henrietta, NY 

18 VC 6 08/13/2021 Avon, NY 

19 VC 7 09/02/2021 Tonawanda, NY 

20 VC 10 10/26/2021 Henrietta, NY 

 
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2. 

COUNTS 21 through 35 
(Mail Fraud) 

Safety Supply - Fictitious Invoices and Victim Checks Mailed 
 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and in Counts 1 and 51 are incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. Between in or about May 2021, and in or about July 2022, in the Western 

District of New York, and elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER and ALEC 

DIERNA, along with Bryan Lantry, did devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and artifice 

to defraud the Victim Companies, and to obtain money and property from the Victim 

Companies by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises. 

3. On or about the dates set forth below, in the Western District of New York, for 

the purpose of executing and attempting to execute the scheme and artifice, the defendants 

knowingly caused to be delivered by mail according to the direction thereon, and deposited 
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and caused to be deposited, and placed in an authorized depository for mail, to be sent and 

delivered by the Postal Service, the following matter: fictitious invoices in the name of Bryan 

Lantry’s company, Safety Supply, and checks from the Victim Companies to Safety Supply: 

COUNT 
VICTIM 

COMPANY 

DATE 
INVOICE 

MAILED AND 
AMOUNT 

TOWN/CITY 
INVOICE 

MAILED TO 
FROM FLORIDA  

DATE CHECK 
MAILED FROM 

WDNY TO 
FLORIDA 

21 VC 11 06/15/2021 
$1,924.79 Clarence Center, NY 06/22/2021 

22 VC 11  06/30/2021 
$1,763.00 Clarence Center, NY 07/09/2021 

23 VC 12 07/14/2021 
$1,877.60 Rochester, NY 07/24/2021 

24 VC 13 07/28/2021 
$1,762.00 West Seneca, NY 08/13/2021 

25 VC 14 08/03/2021 
$1,764.00 Olean, NY 09/02/2021 

26 VC 15 08/03/2021 
$1,764.00 Williamsville, NY 09/08/2021 

27 VC 16 09/01/2021 
$1,778.00 Rochester, NY 09/10/2021 

28 VC 17 09/01/2021 
$1,778.00 LeRoy, NY 10/12/2021 

29 VC 18 09/14/2021 
$1,786.00 Kenmore, NY 11/05/2021 

30 VC 19 09/14/2021 
$1,786.00 Scottsville, NY 11/19/2021 

31 VC 20 09/21/2021 
$1,783.00 Buffalo, NY 10/08/2021 

32 VC 21 09/28/2021 
$1,781.00 Lancaster, NY 09/30/2021 

33 VC 22 10/05/2021 
$1,787.00 Victor, NY 10/18/2021 

34 VC 23 10/12/2021 
$1,789.00 Rochester, NY 11/05/2021 

35 VC 24 10/26/2021 
$978.00 Rochester, NY 11/04/2021 

 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2. 
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COUNTS 36 through 50 
(Mail Fraud) 

Safety Supply – Cheap Product Shipped 

The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and in Counts 1, 21 through 35, and 51 are 

incorporated herein by reference. 

2. Between in or about May 2021, and in or about July 2022, in the Western 

District of New York, and elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER and ALEC 

DIERNA, along with Bryan Lantry, did devise, and intend to devise, a scheme and artifice 

to defraud the Victim Companies, and to obtain money and property from the Victim 

Companies by means of false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises. 

3. On or about the dates set forth below, the defendants, for the purpose of 

executing, and attempting to execute, the scheme and artifice, placed in any post office and 

authorized depository mail matter to be sent and delivered by the Postal Service; deposited 

and caused to be deposited, to be sent and delivered by private and commercial interstate 

carrier; and knowingly caused to be delivered by mail and private and commercial interstate 

carrier according to the direction thereon, the following matter:  inexpensive PPE products to 

Victim Companies who made payment to Bryan Lantry’s company, Safety Supply:  

COUNT 
VICTIM 

COMPANY 

DATE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED TO 
VICTIM COMPANIES 

PLACE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED TO IN 

WDNY 

36 VC 11 08/31/2021 Clarence Center, NY 

37 VC 11  09/01/2021 Clarence Center, NY 

38 VC 12 01/12/2022 Rochester, NY 

39 VC 13 08/25/2021 West Seneca, NY 
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COUNT 
VICTIM 

COMPANY 

DATE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED TO 
VICTIM COMPANIES 

PLACE PRODUCTS 
MAILED/SHIPPED TO IN 

WDNY 

40 VC 14 10/28/2021 Olean, NY 

41 VC 15 11/11/2021 Williamsville, NY 

42 VC 16 11/09/2021 Rochester, NY 

43 VC 17  12/09/2021 LeRoy, NY 

44 VC 18 01/26/2022 Kenmore, NY 

45 VC 19  12/09/2021 Scottsville, NY 

46 VC 20 01/26/2022 Buffalo, NY 

47 VC 21 01/26/2022 Lancaster, NY 

48 VC 22 12/09/2021 Victor, NY 

49 VC 23 12/15/2021 Rochester, NY 

50 VC 24 12/20/2021 Rochester, NY 
 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1341 and 2. 

 

COUNT 51 
(Conspiracy to Engage in Money Laundering)  

 
The Grand Jury Further Charges That: 

1. The allegations in the Introduction and Counts 1 through 50 are incorporated 

herein by reference. 

THE OBJECT OF THE CONSPIRACY 

2. Between in or about October 2020, and in or about January 2022, in the 

Western District of New York, and elsewhere, the defendants, JOHN ENGLER, ALEC 

DIERNA, TOMMY LEE COBURN and KYLE PAUL EDWARD GIBSON, did 
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knowingly, willfully and unlawfully combine, conspire and agree together and with each 

other, and with other persons both known and unknown to the Grand Jury: 

(a) to knowingly engage in monetary transactions, affecting interstate commerce, 

in criminally derived property of a value greater than $10,000, that is, the deposit, 

withdrawal, transfer and exchange of funds and monetary instruments by, through and 

to financial institutions engaged in and the activities of which affected interstate and 

foreign commerce, such property having been derived from specified unlawful activity, 

that is, mail fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1341, and 

knowing that the funds and monetary instruments involved in the transactions 

constituted, and were derived from, proceeds obtained from a criminal offense, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1957 and 2; and  

(b) to knowingly conduct financial transactions affecting interstate commerce, that 

is, the deposit, withdrawal, transfer and exchange of funds and monetary instruments 

by, through and to financial institutions engaged in and the activities of which affected 

interstate and foreign commerce, which represented the proceeds of a specified 

unlawful activity, that is, mail fraud, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 1341, with (i) the intent to promote the carrying on of specified unlawful 

activity, and (ii) knowing that the transactions were designed in whole or in part to 

conceal and disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership and the control 

of the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, and that while conducting such financial 

transactions knew that the property involved in the financial transactions represented 

the proceeds of some form of unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Sections 1956(a)(1)(A)(i), 1956(a)(1)(B)(i) and 2. 
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MEANS BY WHICH THE OBJECT OF THE 

CONSPIRACY WAS TO BE ACCOMPLISHED 

 
The object of the conspiracy was accomplished through the following means and 

methods: 

3. Between in or about the dates set forth below, the approximate number of 

Victim Companies set forth below (a) received fictitious invoices by mail in the names of the 

Sham Companies set forth below, and (b) made payments to such Sham Companies in the 

approximate amounts set forth below, by either mailing and delivering checks or electronic 

payments, which payments funds were deposited into bank accounts and which represented 

criminally derived property and proceeds of specified unlawful activity: 

 

SHAM COMPANIES 

DATES OF 
PAYMENT OF 
FICTITIOUS 
INVOICES 

APPROXIMATE 
NUMBER OF 

PAYMENTS BY THE 
APPROXIMATELY 

5,458 VICTIM 
COMPANIES  

TOTAL 
APPROXIMATE 

AMOUNT OF 
PAYMENTS 

Office Outlet 01/2019-07/2021 170 $100,194.90 

America’s Best 08/2019-09/2020 433 $254,097.12 

United Chemicals 08/2020-04/2021 880 $524,713.12 

Hi-Tech Industrial 11/2020-04/2021 425 $255,822.78 

Nationwide Chemical 02/2021-09/2021 1,145 $822,583.46 

Easton Chemical 04/2021-05/2021 128 $79,328.86 
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SHAM COMPANIES 

DATES OF 
PAYMENT OF 
FICTITIOUS 
INVOICES 

APPROXIMATE 
NUMBER OF 

PAYMENTS BY THE 
APPROXIMATELY 

5,458 VICTIM 
COMPANIES  

TOTAL 
APPROXIMATE 

AMOUNT OF 
PAYMENTS 

Direct Chemical  07/2021-11/2021 873 $861,268.66 

North Atlantic Supply 02/2021-09/2021 1,805 $1,385,442.67 

Top Tier Chemicals  07/2021-11/2021 1,265 $1,257,380.40 

Safety Supply 05/2021-04/2022 1,210 $2,188,462.02 

Union Gloves 10/2021-05/2022 279 $281,249.50 

TOTAL 
(Approximate) 

 8,613 $8,010,543.50 

4. Between in or about November 2020, and in or about November 2021, funds 

that had been deposited into bank accounts in the names of the Sham Companies, which 

represented criminally derived property and proceeds of specified unlawful activity, were 

withdrawn and transferred from such bank accounts in amounts greater than $10,000. 

5. Between in or about November 2020, and in or about November 2021, funds 

that had been deposited into bank accounts in the names of the Sham Companies, which 

represented proceeds from specified unlawful activity, were withdrawn to promote the 

carrying on of mail fraud, and to disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership 

and the control of the proceeds of the mail fraud. 

ACTS IN FURTHERANCE OF THE CONSPIRACY 

6. On or about the dates set forth below, the defendants and their coconspirators 

caused monetary transactions involving criminally derived property with a value greater than 
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$10,000, that is, the withdrawal and transfer of funds in the approximate amounts set forth 

below from bank accounts in the names of the Sham Companies and other entities identified 

below by initials, to the bank accounts in the name of the defendants and other entities 

identified by initials: 

DATE 
COMPANY 

FUNDS FROM 
COMPANY 
FUNDS TO 

AMOUNT 

03/17/2021 NASC SPS $ 17,500 

03/17/2021 NWC SPS $32,500 

03/18/2021 SPS D.E. $25,000 

03/18/2021 SPS E.H. $25,000 

 

03/25/2021 NASC SPS $25,000 

03/25/2021 NWC SPS $25,000 

03/25/2021 SPS D.E. $15,000 

03/25/2021 SPS E.H. $15,000 

03/25/2021 SPS Costanza $15,000 

 

04/05/2021 NASC SPS $13,000 

04/05/2021 NWC SPS $30,000 

04/05/2021 SPS D.E. $16,000 

04/05/2021 SPS E.H. $16,000 

04/09/2021 NASC SPS $25,000 

04/09/2021 NWC SPS $25,000 

04/09/2021 SPS D.E. $15,000 

04/09/2021 SPS E.H. $15,000 

 

04/16/2021 NASC SPS $25,000 

04/16/2021 NWC SPS $40,000 

04/16/2021 SPS D.E. $22,000 
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DATE 
COMPANY 

FUNDS FROM 
COMPANY 
FUNDS TO 

AMOUNT 

04/16/2021 SPS E.H. $22,000 

04/16/2021 SPS Costanza $11,000 

 

04/21/2021 NASC SPS $35,000 

04/22/2021 NWC SPS $28,500 

04/22/2021 SPS D.E. $24,000 

04/22/2021 SPS E.H. $22,000 

04/22/2021 SPS Costanza $12,000 

 

04/30/2021 NASC SPS $40,000 

04/30/2021 NWC SPS $40,000 

04/30/2021 SPS D.E. $36,800 

04/30/2021 SPS E.H. $36,800 

04/30/2021 SPS Costanza $18,400 

 

05/06/2021 NASC SPS $60,000 

05/07/2021 NWC SPS $23,000 

05/07/2021 SPS D.E. $30,000 

05/07/2021 SPS E.H. $30,000 

05/07/2021 SPS Costanza $15,000 

 

05/13/2021 NASC SPS $50,000 

05/13/2021 NWC SPS $22,000 

05/13/2021 SPS D.E. $25,000 

05/13/2021 SPS E.H. $25,000 

05/13/2021 SPS Costanza $12,500 

 

05/21/2021 NASC SPS $50,000 

05/21/2021 NWC SPS $25,000 

Case 6:24-cr-06045-EAW-CDH     Document 34     Filed 05/14/24     Page 43 of 56



44 

DATE 
COMPANY 

FUNDS FROM 
COMPANY 
FUNDS TO 

AMOUNT 

05/21/2021 SPS D.E. $26,280 

05/21/2021 SPS E.H. $26,280 

05/21/2021 SPS Costanza $13,140 

 

05/26/2021 NASC SPS $55,000 

05/26/2021 SPS PVC $47,200 

05/26/2021 SPS Costanza $13,500 

 

05/27/2021 NWC SPS $11,500 

06/02/2021 NASC SPS $35,000 

06/02/2021 SPS D.E. $31,000 

 

06/10/2021 NASC SPS $25,000 

06/10/2021 SPS PVC $22,500 

 

06/18/2021 NWC SPS $20,000 

06/18/2021 NASC SPS $30,000 

    

06/18/2021 SPS PVC $46,000 

 

06/25/2021 NWC SPS $64,000 

06/25/2021 NASC SPS $20,000 

06/25/2021 SPS PVC $56,800 

06/25/2021 SPS Costanza $14,200 

 

07/02/2021 NASC SPS $20,000 

07/02/2021 NASC SPS $20,000 

07/02/2021 SPS PVC $46,000 

 

07/09/2021 NASC SPS $20,000 
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DATE 
COMPANY 

FUNDS FROM 
COMPANY 
FUNDS TO 

AMOUNT 

07/09/2021 NASC SPS $12,000 

07/09/2021 NASC SPS $20,000 

07/09/2021 NWC SPS $40,000 

07/09/2021 SPS PVC $93,000 

 

07/23/2021 NASC SPS $65,000 

07/23/2021 NWC SPS $25,000 

07/23/2021 SPS PVC $80,000 

 

07/30/2021 NASC SPS $57,800 

07/30/2021 SPS PVC $50,000 

 

08/06/2021 TTC SPS $11,500 

08/06/2021 SPS PVC $45,000 

 

08/13/2021 NWC SPS $11,500 

08/13/2021 TTC SPS $12,500 

08/13/2021 SPS PVC $39,000 

 

08/25/2021 TTC PVC $45,000 

08/25/2021 NASC PVC $20,000 

 

09/02/2021 TTC SPS $32,684.85 

09/02/2021 SPS DCM $14,000 

 

09/17/2021 TTC SPS $60,280.15 

09/17/2021 SPS PVC $33,804 

09/17/2021 SPS DCM $12,000 

 

09/24/2021 TTC SPS $21,436.65 

Case 6:24-cr-06045-EAW-CDH     Document 34     Filed 05/14/24     Page 45 of 56



46 

DATE 
COMPANY 

FUNDS FROM 
COMPANY 
FUNDS TO 

AMOUNT 

09/27/2021 SPS DCM $12,000 

09/30/2021 SPS DCM $12,000 

 

09/28/2021 TTC WCS $81,224.64 

 

10/04/2021 TTC SPS $17,187.30 

10/08/2021 SPS DCM $11,800 

 

10/08/2021 TTC WCS $133,219.71 

10/15/2021 TTC WCS $80,250.99 

10/22/2021 TTC WCS $73,600.73 

10/27/2021 TTC WCS $74,167.84 

11/04/2021 TTC WCS $80,255.43 

11/05/2021 TTC Coburn $11,000 

11/12/2021 TTC WCS $72,361.89 

 

08/27/2021 SS LE $10,700 

09/16/2021 SS LE $10,645 

09/30/2021 SS LE $11,000 

09/30/2021 SS LE $34,000 

10/08/2021 SS LE $11,200 

10/14/2021 SS LE $40,000 

10/26/2021 SS LE $10,800 

11/01/2021 SS LE $30,000 

 

10/26/2021 SS FSW $45,000 

11/05/2021 SS FSW $100,192.45 

11/05/2021 SS FSW $80,326.11 
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DATE 
COMPANY 

FUNDS FROM 
COMPANY 
FUNDS TO 

AMOUNT 

11/12/2021 SS FSW $45,215.05 

12/10/2021 SS FSW $30,000 

 

7. Between in or about May 2021, and in or about July 2022, for purposes of 

promoting the carrying on of the specified unlawful activity, that is, mail fraud, the defendants 

caused financial transactions with proceeds from the mail fraud, that is, the withdrawal of 

approximately $196,595.73 from bank accounts belonging to the Sham Companies to pay the 

United States Postal Service for stamps required to mail out fraudulent documents appearing 

to be legitimate invoices to the Victim Companies. 

8. Between in or about May 2021, and in or about July 2022, for purposes of 

promoting the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, that is, mail fraud, the defendants 

caused financial transactions with proceeds from the mail fraud, that is, the withdrawal and 

transfer of approximately $239,973.03 from bank accounts belonging to Simple Pro Solutions 

to pay Federal Express to ship the cheap cleaner/degreaser products to the Victim 

Companies. 

9. Between in or about May 2021, and in or about July 2022, for purposes of 

promoting the carrying on of specified unlawful activity, caused financial transactions with 

proceeds of specified unlawful activity, that is, the withdrawal of approximately $114,070.52 

from bank accounts belonging to Safety Supply, Union Gloves, Five Star Warehouse, and 

Wholesale Chem Supplies LLC to pay United Parcel Service to ship the cheap PPE products 

to the Victim Companies. 
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10. Between in or about May 2021, and in or about July 2022, for purposes of 

disguising the nature, the location, the source, the ownership and the control of the proceeds 

of the mail fraud, the defendants caused financial transactions with proceeds from the mail 

fraud, that is, the withdrawal and transfer of approximately $2,213,709.86 from bank accounts 

belonging to the Simple Pro Solutions and Wholesale Chem Supplies to bank accounts 

belonging to belonging to ENGLER and ALEC DIERNA, or to their companies, Prince 

Venture Capital LLC, Engler Holdings LLC, and Dierna Enterprise LLC. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h). 

 
FIRST FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 

(Proceeds Forfeiture) 
 

The Grand Jury Alleges That: 
 

Upon conviction of any and all of the offenses set forth in Counts 1 through 50 of this 

Superseding Indictment, the defendant, JOHN ENGLER, shall forfeit to the United States, 

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), and Title 28, United States 

Code, Section 2461(c), any property, real or personal, constituting, or derived from, proceeds 

the defendant obtained directly or indirectly, as the result of such violation. The property to 

be forfeited includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

A.   MONETARY SUM 

The approximate sum of $1,999,000.09 United States currency, which sum of money 

is equal to the total amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the offenses for which the 

defendant, JOHN ENGLER, is charged in Counts 1 through 50.  In the event that the above 
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sum is not available, then a money judgment for the same amount will be entered against the 

defendant. 

If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of the 

defendant: 

i. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

ii. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person; 

iii. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court; 

iv. has been substantially diminished in value; or 

v. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without 
difficulty; 

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to 

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

B.        REAL PROPERTY 

i. The Premises and Real Property with all Buildings, Appurtenances, and 
Improvements, located at 5283 Park Place Circle, Boca Raton, Florida, 33486, 
that is, all that tract or parcel of land, situated in the City of Boca Raton, County 
of Palm Beach, and State of Florida, and more particularly described in a 
certain Deed Recorded in Palm Beach County Clerk’s Office Book 31307, Page 
94. 

 

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), Title 28, United 

States Code, Section 2461(c) and Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 
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SECOND FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 
(Proceeds Forfeiture) 

 
The Grand Jury Further Alleges That: 

 
Upon conviction of any and all of the offenses set forth in Counts 1 through 50 of this 

Superseding Indictment, the defendant, ALEC DIERNA, shall forfeit to the United States, 

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), and Title 28, United States 

Code, Section 2461(c), any property, real or personal, constituting, or derived from, proceeds 

the defendant obtained directly or indirectly, as the result of such violation. The property to 

be forfeited includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

 A.     MONETARY SUM 

The approximate sum of $2,085,761.53 United States currency, which sum of money 

is equal to the total amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the offenses for which the 

defendant, ALEC DIERNA, is charged in Counts 1 through 50.  In the event that the above 

sum is not available, then a money judgment for the same amount will be entered against the 

defendant. 

If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of the 

defendant: 

i. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

ii. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person; 

iii. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court; 

iv. has been substantially diminished in value; or 

v. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without 
difficulty; 
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the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to 

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

B. REAL PROPERTY 

i. The Premises and Real Property with Buildings, Appurtenances, and 
Improvements at 5091 County Line Rd, Webster, New York, that is, all that 
tract or parcel of land, situated in the City of Webster, County of Wayne, State 
of New York, and More Particularly Described in a Certain Deed Recorded in 
the Wayne County Clerk’s Office with an Instrument Number of R9183729. 

 

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), Title 28, United 

States Code, Section 2461(c) and Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

 

 

THIRD FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 
(Proceeds Forfeiture) 

 
The Grand Jury Further Alleges That: 

 
Upon conviction of any and all of the offenses set forth in Counts 1, and 4 through 9 

of this Superseding Indictment, the defendant, TOMMY LEE COBURN, shall forfeit to the 

United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), and Title 28, 

United States Code, Section 2461(c), any property, real or personal, constituting, or derived 

from, proceeds the defendant obtained directly or indirectly, as the result of such violation. 

The property to be forfeited includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

 MONETARY SUM 

The approximate sum of $239,646.20 United States currency, which sum of money is 

equal to the total amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the offenses for which the 
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defendant, TOMMY LEE COBURN, is charged in Counts 1, 4 through 9.  In the event that 

the above sum is not available, then a money judgment for the same amount will be entered 

against the defendant. 

If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of the 

defendant: 

i. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

ii. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person; 

iii. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court; 

iv. has been substantially diminished in value; or 

v. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without 
difficulty; 

 

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to 

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), Title 28, United 

States Code, Section 2461(c) and Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

 

FOURTH FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 
(Proceeds Forfeiture) 

 
The Grand Jury Further Alleges That: 

Upon conviction of any and all of the offenses set forth in Counts 1, and 10 through 

20 of this Superseding Indictment, the defendant, KYLE PAUL EDWARD GIBSON, shall 

forfeit to the United States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), 
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and Title 28, United States Code, Section 2461(c), any property, real or personal, constituting, 

or derived from, proceeds the defendant obtained directly or indirectly, as the result of such 

violation. The property to be forfeited includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

 MONETARY SUM 

The approximate sum of $108,899.20 United States currency, which sum of money is 

equal to the total amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the offenses for which the 

defendant, KYLE PAUL EDWARD GIBSON, is charged in Counts 1, and 10 through 20. 

In the event that the above sum is not available, then a money judgment for the same amount 

will be entered against the defendant. 

If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of the 

defendant: 

i. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

ii. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person; 

iii. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court; 

iv. has been substantially diminished in value; or 

v. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without 
difficulty; 

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to 

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), Title 28, United 

States Code, Section 2461(c) and Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 
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FIFTH FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 

(Proceeds Forfeiture) 
 

The Grand Jury Further Alleges That: 

Upon conviction of the offense set forth in Count 1 of this Superseding Indictment, 

the defendant, NICHOLAS SCARANTINO, shall forfeit to the United States, pursuant to 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), and Title 28, United States Code, Section 

2461(c), any property, real or personal, constituting, or derived from, proceeds the defendant 

obtained directly or indirectly, as the result of such violation. The property to be forfeited 

includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

 MONETARY SUM 

The approximate sum of $75,484.00 United States currency, which sum of money is 

equal to the total amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the offense for which the 

defendant, NICHOLAS SCARANTINO is charged in Count 1. In the event that the above 

sum is not available, then a money judgment for the same amount will be entered against the 

defendant. 

If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of the 

defendant: 

i. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

ii. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person; 

iii. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court; 

iv. has been substantially diminished in value; or 
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v. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without 
difficulty; 

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to 

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), Title 28, United 

States Code, Section 2461(c) and Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

 

SIXTH FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 
(Proceeds Forfeiture) 

 
The Grand Jury Further Alleges That: 

Upon conviction of any and all of the offenses set forth in Counts 1, 5, 6, 8 and 9 of 

this Superseding Indictment, the defendant, HEATHER DIERNA, shall forfeit to the United 

States, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), and Title 28, United 

States Code, Section 2461(c), any property, real or personal, constituting, or derived from, 

proceeds the defendant obtained directly or indirectly, as the result of such violation. The 

property to be forfeited includes, but is not limited to, the following: 

 MONETARY SUM 

The approximate sum of $43,385.83 United States currency, which sum of money is 

equal to the total amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the offenses for which the 

defendant, HEATHER DIERNA, is charged in Counts 1, 5, 6, 8 and 9 In the event that the 

above sum is not available, then a money judgment for the same amount will be entered 

against the defendant. 
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If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of the 

defendant: 

i. cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

ii. has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third person; 

iii. has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the Court; 

iv. has been substantially diminished in value; or 

v. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided without 
difficulty; 

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to 

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(1)(C), Title 28, 

United States Code, Section 2461(c) and Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p). 

DATED:  Rochester, New York, May 14, 2024 
 
 
TRINI E. ROSS 
United States Attorney 
 
 

     By:  s/RICHARD A. RESNICK 
 Assistant United States Attorney 
 United States Attorney=s Office 
 Western District of New York 
 100 State Street, Suite 500 
 Rochester, New York 14614 
 (585) 263-6760 
 Richard.Resnick@usdoj.gov 

A TRUE BILL: 
 
 
s/FOREPERSON 
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